THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Watson, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001487

Linda A. Gibson, formerly known as Linda Ann Avinger,
individually and as Trustee of the Paul William Gibson
Family Trust, and Heritage Seven, LLC,

Respondents,

v.

Ameris Bank,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Stepp (S.C. Bar #5335)
Tina Cundari (S.C. Bar #71951)
Benjamin R. Gooding (S.C. Bar #100620)
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-929-1400
rstepp@sowellgray.com
tcundari@sowellgray.com
bgooding@sowellgray.com

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I Did the master-in-equity err in concluding that the bank owed the borrower (a limited liability company) a fiduciary duty in a \$2.8 million dollar commercial loan transaction for a real estate venture that ultimately failed?
- II Did the master-in-equity err in concluding that the bank was liable for negligent misrepresentation for telling the borrower that the transaction was a “good deal” and that the “rents would cover the debt”?
- III Did the master-in-equity err in concluding that the bank knowingly aided and abetted the borrower’s real estate agent in breaching a fiduciary duty?
- IV Did the master-in-equity err in awarding actual and punitive damages, and is the punitive damages award so excessive that it violates the due process clause of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order entering judgment in favor of Heritage Seven LLC and Linda Gibson, individually and as Trustee of the Paul William Gibson Family Trust, (collectively, “Respondents”) on causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, negligent misrepresentation, and aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty. [R 1-55].

This case began as a foreclosure action. On June 14, 2010, Appellant Ameris Bank filed a foreclosure action against Respondents for failing to pay two notes: one for \$2,810,164.50 and the other for \$50,071.96 [R 66-76]. On July 20, 2010, Respondents answered the complaint, asserting counterclaims of negligent misrepresentation, civil conspiracy, and equitable relief [R 77-76]. On September 27, 2011, Respondents amended the counterclaims, alleging counterclaims of negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. [R. 92-99]. On October 20, 2011, Ameris Bank answered the amended counterclaims, denying the allegations and asserting numerous affirmative defenses [R 100-08]. The foreclosure action settled on December 1, 2010, with Ameris Bank’s assignee of the loan accepting a deed in lieu of foreclosure [R 1688-90]. The counterclaims remained, however, and were tried on May 22 and 23, 2012, and August 14, 2012 before the Berkeley County Master-in-Equity. [R 1].

On August 8, 2013, the master entered judgment for Respondents on all causes of action and awarded actual damages of \$1,153,625 and punitive damages of \$3,551,232 [R. 55]. The master found Gibson 20% at fault for the harm alleged, and rather than apply the deduction to the actual damages only, applied it to the total award of actual and

punitive damages. [R. 53-55] Additionally, the master applied an \$850,000 setoff to the total award (rather to the actual damages only), for the money received in the settlement of the case that Respondents filed against Rolando Villavicencio and others for the same injury. [R. 54-55, 1685-87] The final judgment was for \$2,913.886. [R. 55]. On July 10, 2014, the bank served a notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves a \$2.8 million loan that Ameris Bank made to Heritage Seven LLC for the purchase and renovation of an apartment complex in North Charleston, South Carolina. [R.1095-110, 1120-22]. Linda Gibson is the sole managing member of Heritage Seven, LLC. [R. 203, 277]. Gibson guaranteed the loan in her individual capacity and as Trustee of the Paul William Gibson Family Trust [R. 1089-94].

A. Linda Gibson

Linda Gibson is a multimillionaire. As of October 5, 2009, she had a net worth of \$18,341,915, with \$24,121,275 in assets. [R. 282, 1651]. Gibson's assets are primarily income-producing real estate [R. 868-70, 894-96, 1036-38]. In 2009, she received \$478,775 in rental income [R. 280, 1651]. Gibson attended two years of college [R. 271]. She has formed and been a member of multiple LLCs [R. 1688-703]. She has served as Trustee of the Paul William Gibson Family Trust since 2003, and has successfully managed the affairs of the trust since that time. [R. 278]

B. Rolando Villavicencio and Heritage Seven LLC

Rolando Villavicencio was a realtor for ReMax Professional Realty in Charleston. Linda Gibson met Villavicencio and his wife Portia at church in 2004, and they became friends soon after Gibson's husband died. [R. 223, 694-96]. In 2005, Gibson sold one of

the two beach houses she owned at the Isle of Palms (600 Carolina Boulevard). [R. 185]. Upon selling the beach house, Gibson executed a 1031 exchange to defer paying capital gains tax on the proceeds of the sale. [R. 186-86, 273-74, 747-48] She asked Villavicencio and Portia to help her find a suitable commercial property for the exchange [R. 747-48]. Villavicencio identified a shopping center in Moncks Corner. [R. 185, 272]. The purchase price was \$2.4 million. [R. 272, 853].

On November 20, 2005, Gibson formed Heritage Seven, LLC, to purchase the shopping center. [R. 1694-96]. Gibson obtained financing through First Reliance Bank [R. 802-07, 847-51] Karl Zerbst was the loan officer and Benjamin Lanier was the credit analyst. [R. 802-07] The sale closed on December 15, 2005. [R. 852-58]. Heritage Seven LLC hired Villavicencio and ReMax Professional Realty to manage the shopping center for a ten-year term [R. 291, 859-67]

C. Karl Zerbst

Karl Zerbst is a former employee of Ameris Bank. Gibson met Zerbst in late 2004 when he was working for First Reliance Bank. [R. 230]. Gibson opened a CD and a checking account through him *Id* When asked how often she met with Zerbst in 2004 and 2005, Gibson testified, “Probably two or three times ” *Id*

In November 2005, Zerbst was the loan officer who structured the loan made to Heritage Seven LLC to purchase the shopping center. [R. 230-31].

D. North Charleston Apartment Complex

In 2007, Villavicencio approached Gibson about purchasing a 48-unit apartment complex in North Charleston. [R. 750-58] Villavicencio was familiar with the property because he was the property manager and the exclusive listing agent for the seller. [R. 748-49, 767-68, 886-90] The property was listed for \$2.8 million [R. 295]. Villavicencio painted “a great picture” for Gibson about converting the apartments into condominiums and selling them for \$90,000 - \$100,000 per unit ¹ [R. 750-58] He told her that he thought the price was a good deal and that it would be a good investment for her [R. 750-51, 769-70] Gibson considered Villavicencio to be her financial advisor and she was “relying on him heavily” [R. 755]. Gibson asked Villavicencio if she should offer something less than the list price, and he said no, that the seller would not take anything less. [R. 295, 697-98]. On May 7, 2007, Gibson signed a contract to purchase the property for \$2.8 million. [R. 871-79].

Gibson decided not to sell any of the real estate she owned to generate cash to buy the apartments [R. 303]. Instead, she chose to refinance the beach house owned by 3205 Palm Boulevard, LLC.² [R. 759-60, 1375]. The refinance closed on August 28, 2007, and generated approximately \$667,000 in cash, which Gibson used to purchase the apartment complex. [R. 304-05, 891-93]

In September 2007, Heritage Seven LLC submitted a loan application to First Reliance Bank, the same bank that financed the purchase of the shopping center. [R.

¹ Villavicencio was not able to find a bank that would finance the proposal to convert the apartments into condominiums and sell them. [R. 295-96] So he suggested that the apartments be renovated and leased, which Gibson agreed to. [R. 295-96].

² Gibson formed 3205 Palm Boulevard, LLC, in 2002, and was a 50% owner [R. 303-04, 1688-90].

1029-31]. As part of the application process, Villavicencio prepared and submitted multiple personal financial statements on Gibson's behalf.³ [R 520-21, 746, 771-72]. One statement, dated April 30, 2007, shows Gibson having a net worth of \$53,797,162 [R 868-70] Another statement, dated August 30, 2007, shows Gibson having a net worth of \$53,005,766. [R 894-96] Yet another statement, dated September 30, 2007, shows a net worth of \$52,682,766⁴ [R 1036-38]

In connection with the loan application, First Reliance ordered an appraisal of the property [898-1015]. The appraisal, dated September 12, 2007, showed an as-is value of the apartment complex of \$2,800,000, and the as-renovated value of \$3,700,000. [R 900-01]. The appraisal also contains information about projected rental revenue upon completion of the renovations [R 986-90]

On September 17, 2007, Gibson (on behalf of Heritage Seven, LLC) signed a contract with an architectural firm, agreeing to pay \$20,000 for various architectural services, including oversight during the renovations. [R. 350-51, 1016-28] The agreement states that the owner selected The Triton Group as the contractor [R 1028]. The contract with The Triton Group is dated September 26, 2007, and shows a contract price not to exceed \$700,000 for the renovations. [R. 1032-35].

³ Villavicencio played an active role in communications with the bank. [R 1059-61, 1074-77, 1083-87] He was the go-between between Gibson and the bank

⁴ These numbers were much higher than Gibson's actual net worth at the time, primarily because the statements represented that the 55 acres that Gibson owned on Daniel Island were worth \$27.5 million. [R. 868-70, 894-96, 1036-38]. Gibson's 2010 financial statement showed the same property valued at \$5.5 million. [R. 1651] Nonetheless, Gibson allowed the inflated statements to be submitted to both First Reliance and Ameris, and both banks relied upon the statements in processing the loan application for the apartment complex. [R. 1029-31, 1039-40, 1057-58]

On October 4, 2007, while the loan application was pending, Karl Zerbst left First Reliance Bank. [R 463-65]. At some point after leaving the bank, Zerbst received a call from Villavicencio [R 487] Villavicencio wanted to know where Benjamin Lanier, who also used to work at First Reliance, had gone to work, and Zerbst told him Ameris Bank. [R 487.] Zerbst notified Lanier that Villavicencio would be calling. [R. 495-96, 517]. Lanier set up a meeting with Villavicencio at the apartment complex. [R. 495-96]. Zerbst attended the meeting and gave Villavicencio certain of the loan application documents from First Reliance, including the appraisal, and Villavicencio in turn gave them to Lanier ⁵ [R. 495-96]. Zerbst did this without any instruction from Ameris Bank ⁶

After the meeting with Lanier and Zerbst, Villavicencio sent Lanier an email stating that he had received a call from Ben Brazell at First Reliance Bank, who said that he was not able to submit the loan package to the loan committee when promised. [R. 1704-07] The email, dated October 19, 2007, states:

it also appears he has a lot more important stuff on his plate at the moment than our loan.

as you know, we no longer have time to waste.

we should have closed this project months ago

anyway, with the above, let this be our official request for ameris bank to proceed with processing for above loan

⁵ Lanier described the delivery of the documents as “staged.” [R. 498] By delivering the documents to Villavicencio instead of directly to Lanier, Zerbst was presumably trying to avoid violating a non-compete agreement he had with First Reliance Bank that prevented him from working in the Charleston area for a year [R 469]

⁶ Zerbst was not employed by Ameris Bank or any bank at this time. Although Zerbst had spoken to Ameris Bank about working there, he did not become an employee of the bank until January 11, 2008. [R. 422-23, 1151].

you had mentioned you may be able to provide us a commitment letter by early next week

[R. 1706]

On or about October 25, 2007, Heritage Seven, LLC, submitted a commercial loan application to Ameris Bank. [R. 1078-79]. The application is signed by Gibson as managing member of Heritage Seven LLC. [R. 323, 1078-79] The amount requested is \$2,800,000. [R. 1078].

Sometime in October 2007, prior to the loan closing, Gibson called Karl Zerbst [R. 249-50]. Zerbst was no longer working for First Reliance Bank and had not yet begun working for Ameris Bank.⁷ [R. 249-50]. Gibson reached Zerbst on his cell phone. She did not know where he was when he accepted the call or what information he had in front of him. [R. 325-26, 328]. She testified that the call lasted approximately thirty minutes, and that she believed that they talked “a little bit about the appraisal,” about the location and the rents, and about whether Zerbst felt like the apartment complex was a good property for her “so that [she] could at least make a little money on it, that it was a better cash flow than the beach house that [she] had, and that [she] was going to be able to pay for it.” [R. 253] Gibson testified

⁷ Ameris Bank has maintained throughout this case that Zerbst was not an agent of the bank in October 2007; that the bank did nothing to represent to Gibson that Zerbst was authorized to act on the bank’s behalf, and that as a matter of law, Zerbst cannot create an agency relationship through his conduct alone. *See Cowburn v Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 39, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005) (“An agency relationship may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.”). *See also Charleston, S C Registry for Golf & Tourism, Inc v Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale*, 359 S.C. 635, 641-44, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721-22 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding that there is no relationship as a matter of law when the principal has not made any representations to a third party concerning whether someone is an agent). The master’s finding to the contrary is incorrect as a matter of law.

That was my main concern, was whether or not -- I was borrowing millions of dollars I'm not -- I don't know a lot about business, but I do know that I cannot spend more money than I take in, and that was the bottom line for me. Is this going to be a suitable property where the rents would cover my debt? And hopefully this thing would -- once it was renovated, they assured me that the rents were going to increase because of the renovations. I mean, even the appraisal showed that, that they said it -- it went from 2.8 million to 3.7 million because of the renovations. So they said that the rents would come in at almost double and that would be taken care of. So that was my main concern and that was what I talked about with Karl.

[R. 253-54].

When asked what Zerbst told her, Gibson stated: "Well, he didn't disagree with that. He never once said any negative thing about that property, that it wouldn't fly, that it wouldn't do me a service, that it was all -- he and Mr. Villavicencio both assured me."

[R. 254] She concluded that the apartments were a good deal because Zerbst did not say anything negative. [R. 331] She testified that Zerbst "thought it was a good investment" and "always assured [her] that the rents would cover the debt." [R. 254, 268]

E. The Closing and Loan Documents

Ameris ultimately approved the loan, and the closing took place on November 2, 2007.⁸ [R. 1126]. Prior to the closing, on October 25, 2007, Ameris gave Gibson a commitment letter indicating the bank's intention to approve the loan. [R. 1080-82] This was done at a grand opening party for Ameris's Charleston office. [R. 237-40]. The commitment letter outlined the terms of the loan agreement and explained the purpose of

⁸ The loan was also approved by First Reliance Bank. [Def.'s Ex. 22; Tr. 365-8-20.]

the loan, the rate and fees, the maturity, the terms, the collateral, and the conditions precedent⁹ [R 1080-82].

On November 2, 2007, the day of the closing, Gibson signed a Construction Loan Agreement with Ameris Bank, individually and on behalf of Heritage Seven LLC [R 319, 1095-1103] The agreement contains numerous provisions regarding the responsibilities of the parties. [R 1095-1103]. According to the agreement, Heritage Seven LLC was responsible for choosing an architect or other construction consultant to periodically inspect the project's progress to protect the borrower's interests. [R 1096]. The agreement states that *the borrower* "will apply or cause Project contractors and suppliers to apply the Loan disbursements only to work actually done and materials actually incorporated in the Project and scheduled to be paid under the Disbursement Schedule" [R. 1100]. The agreement states that any inspections done by the bank are solely for the benefit of the bank. [R 1097] The agreement further states that the bank is "not obligated to inspect, supervise, prevent Construction Liens, or inform [the borrower] about the Project's progress or performance," and the bank and its consulting architect act for the protection of the bank [R 1100]. The agreement also contains an indemnity clause requiring the borrower to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the bank for anything that anyone does or fails to do concerning the property. [R 1099] The agreement outlines events of default and remedies that the bank may pursue [R

⁹ Gibson testified that she signed the commitment letter at the grand opening party and that she was under the influence of alcohol when she did so [R. 237-40] She was not able to produce a signed copy of the letter, however, and the letter did not obligate her to close on the loan in any event. [R. 1080-82] The commitment letter simply indicated the bank's intention to make the loan and stated that funding was contingent upon a successful closing, which was not scheduled to take place until November 2, a week after the party. [R 1080-82].

1100-02]. Finally, the agreement states. “This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are the complete and final expression of the understanding between [the parties]” [R 1102]

Prior to the closing, Gibson did not do any independent research or investigation to evaluate the property. [R. 293-94]. Although she understood that she could have obtained a second opinion about the purchase price, she never did [R. 293-94, 336]. She did not review any cash flow statements or income statements for the property. [R. 293-94] She never saw the rent rolls for the property [R 297]. She inspected only one of 48 units. [R 293] She did not hire an architect or a contractor to inspect the property. [R 294]. She did not ask anyone (other than Villavicencio) to prepare an estimate of the cost necessary to convert the apartments into condominiums or to renovate them to generate higher rents. [R 294, 297, 326]

F. Renovations of the North Charleston Apartment Complex

After the loan closed, the renovations began. Villavicencio was responsible for supervising the construction and visited the apartment complex almost every day. [Def 's Ex 39, Ct. Ex. 10, Villavicencio Dep 194:25-195:13; 207 20-23.] Gibson did not visit the project during the first five months of construction because of health issues. [R 216-17]. Nonetheless, she would call Villavicencio from time to time to see how things were going [R. 219] Villavicencio told her that everything was going fine and that the project was proceeding as planned [R 219] On February 7, 2008, Villavicencio sent an email to Lanier at Ameris Bank stating that “we should start seeing units completed and ready for leasing next month.” [R. 1384]. He further stated, “we are moving along as planned.” [R. 1384]

At the end of March 2008, after the renovations had been underway for approximately five months, Gibson visited the property for the first time [R 216-17]. Upon her arrival, she observed that “a lot of things” had gone wrong with the project [R 218, 220] For instance, she saw that three buildings were being worked on instead of one, which was contrary to the plan to renovate one building at a time. [R 218-19, 1399] According to Gibson, each building was supposed to take four to six weeks to complete [R 218] Instead, not a single building had been completed and the buildings were completely “demolished,” having no windows or doors. [R. 218]

On her drive home after visiting the property, Gibson testified that “a wave of fear came over [her]” and she “had to make a decision to go down there eventually.” [R 220]. In May 2008, Gibson moved to the apartment complex to take over the day-to-day management and supervision of the project [R 220-22] One of the first things she did was fire the crew that Villavicencio had hired [R 220]. Gibson said they were “young people” who “didn’t seem to be competent construction people.” [R 220]. Gibson interviewed several people before hiring a crew, and officially replaced Triton Construction with a new contractor [R 220, 1398]. Under her supervision, two buildings were renovated and half of a third. [R. 221]

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