THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Watson, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2014-001487

Linda Gibson, formerly known as Linda Ann Avinger
Individually and as Trustee of the Paul William Gibson
Family Trust, and Heritage Seven, LLC,

Respondents

v.

Ameris Bank,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Harvey M. Watson III
Desa Ballard
BALLARD & WATSON
Post Office Box 6338
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
harvey@desaballard.com
desab@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

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

B. Gibson Relied on Ameris' Statements.

Ameris contends that Gibson did not have the right to rely upon the misrepresentations repeatedly fed to her regarding the apartment purchase. But reliance is justified where the defendant was in a superior position to the one who relied on the statements. Harrington v. Mikell, 321 S.C. 518, 522, 469 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1996). The totality of the circumstances, including the positions and relations of the parties, must

be considered. Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. Of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 241, 692 S.E.2d 499, 508 (2010). The positions of the parties includes a requirement that the court look to whether the relationship was confidential or fiduciary, not just arms-length. Florentine Corp. Inc. v. PEDDA I, Inc., 287 S.C. 382, 386, 339 S.E.2d 112, 114 (1985).

Ameris cites authority that states where there is the absence of a fiduciary relationship, there is no right to rely, which is a correct statement of law, but irrelevant. As discussed extensively supra, this was certainly a fiduciary relationship. Likewise, this was not an interaction between educated, experienced equals, as Gibson's undisputed lack of sophistication makes clear. Zerbst and his quarter-century of banking familiarity dwarfed Gibson's openly acknowledged ignorance and inexperience. Contrary to Ameris' critique of her failures to uncover the falsity of the representations, Gibson was trying to be diligent. She just had the misfortune of falling prey to unscrupulous professionals at every turn, all of whom were serving Ameris' interests, not hers.

C. The false statements led directly to Gibson's suffered harm.

Ameris argues that Gibson was locked in to the transaction notwithstanding the false representations. (App.Br. p. 37). However, the contract agreeing to purchase the apartments signed in May was done with Gibson clearly indicating she was not ready or sure about closing. [Tr. 124:6-10]. The contract lacked consideration, and was contingent on financing, but did not mention financing details. No escrow funds were put down when that contract was signed. The referenced refinance of the beach house was done in anticipation of this transaction, but had only shifted debt, not accumulated more, and thus would have been equally useful even without subsequent addition of the apartment complex debt.

This issue is without merit.

Issue Three

VILLACENCIO'S BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES TO GIBSON WERE SUBSTANTIALLY ASSISTED BY AMERIS.

The trial court awarded recovery for Gibson's third cause of action, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. Recovery requires (1) a fiduciary duty owed to a person; (2) a third party's knowing participation in the breach of that duty; and (3) damages. Vortex Sports & Entm't, Inc. v. Ware's, 378 S.C. 197, 204, 662 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2008). "The gravamen of the claim is the defendant's knowing participation in the fiduciary's breach." Id. There was ample evidence supporting the trial court's finding of the existence of a fiduciary relationship between Gibson and Villavicencio, and Ameris conceded that threshold issue in its brief. [App. Brief p. 39] Despite that concession, Ameris alleges two errors in the trial court's examination of the requisite elements for a finding of liability as to this claim, neither of which have merit.

A. Villavicencio breached his fiduciary duties.

Ameris contends that there was insufficient evidence in the record that Villavicencio had ever breached his duties that arose as a result of the acknowledged fiduciary relationship between himself and Gibson. However, that was not really ever disputed; it was the elephant in the room. Gibson first testified that she terminated Villavicencio as "a result of the mismanagement of properties, stealing – I discovered that he had stole several hundred thousand dollars from managing the shopping center and the apartments." [Tr. 71:25 – 72:8]. She later elaborated that in addition to stealing from her, Villavicencio "along with Mr. Zerbst put me into some investments that were good for

Handwritten initials

them but bad for me.” [Tr. 112:20-25]. Gibson’s testimony did not minimize Villavicencio’s misconduct to theft, as Ameris claims. The term “mismanagement” and reference to acting in his own self-interest with respect to investments (including the apartment complex) is more than adequate description from a lay witness as to the breaches of fiduciary duty committed by Villavicencio. That is especially true when those breaches are so fully revealed via other testimony and documentation contained within the record on appeal, including Villavicencio’s mismanagement of the renovation efforts and related construction loan proceeds during Gibson’s illness, as well as the earliest relevant breach related to Villavicencio’s scheming with Lanier and Zerbst to push through this apartment investment despite contrary bests interests of Gibson⁴. Villavicencio’s breach of fiduciary duty was obvious to everyone but Ameris, apparently.

B. Ameris had knowledge of the breaches and substantially assisted them.

Ameris also argues that despite evidence of breach by Villavicencio with respect to the apartment complex, there was no evidence that Ameris knew about the alleged breach or knowingly aided or abetted it. The record demonstrates otherwise.

Under South Carolina law, one is liable for harm resulting to a third person from the tortious conduct of another if one “knows that the other's conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself” or “gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and his own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third person.”

⁴ Ameris is also seeking a full off-set of funds recovered by Gibson against Villavicencio in separate litigation. Since that recovery was for breaches unrelated to the apartment complex, and thus factually distinguished from claims against Ameris in this litigation, then the off-set would be inappropriate.

See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 876(b) and (c) (1979) as cited by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Future Group, II v. NationsBank, 324 S.C. 89, 97, 478 S.E.2d 45, 49 (1996).

Ameris' own tortious conduct is explored extensively supra, and a great many of the acts and omissions committed by its agents and employees directly involved Villavicencio, while many of the others substantially assisted him in his own breaches of duty. Mr. Barksdale concluded after his review of the file that Villavicencio was a con artist. [Tr. 608]. And Zerbst admitted they had their suspicions about Villavicencio. [Tr. 324] When Villavicencio first reached out to Reliance bank and Zerbst about the proposed purchase of the apartment complex, Zerbst' very first question in response was to inquire whether Gibson even knew about the proposed transaction. [Tr. 324:9-24]

Yet from the record it is apparent that Villavicencio excluded Gibson from much of the discussion with Ameris. Ameris obliged by dealing directly with Villavicencio in the transfer of the loan documents from First Reliance to Ameris, allowing the use of an appraisal meant for another bank at Villavicencio's request, and accepting a wildly-inflated financial statement from Villavicencio. The financing, with the risky 100% loan structure, was worked out between Villavicencio, Lanier and Zerbst in a joint effort noticeably lacking involvement of Gibson, who had not even seen the loan application by the time it had already been approved by the state president of Ameris. [Tr. 407:10-18]

Actions linking Ameris and Villavicencio that did involve Gibson were no less damning for this claim. Gibson relied on Villavicencio heavily and regarded him as her real estate and financial advisor. [Tr. 185:25 – 186:16] But she also wanted to know the advice of Zerbst. [Tr. 75:1-3]. Gibson then repeatedly referenced how "they," meaning

Villavicencio and Ameris employees or agents, had worked in combination to convince her of the falsity that the apartment transaction was a wise investment for her. [Tr. 124:6-21, 142:7 – 142:12]⁵. Villavicencio (and his wife) participated in the surprise document execution at the gala event. [Tr. 127:23 – 129:2].

The purchase of the apartments, at their inflated price that further benefitted Villavicencio as both buyer and seller’s agent on the transaction⁶, could not have been done without the bolstering, substantial assistance of Zerbst, acting on behalf of Ameris.

This issue is without merit.

Issue Four

Damages, both actual and punitive, were justified by the evidence before the trial court and within the confines of constitutional restraints on such awards.

“Actual damages are properly called compensatory damages, meaning to compensate, to make the injured party whole, to put him in the same position he was in prior to the damages received insofar as this is monetarily possible.” Mellen v. Lane, 377 S.C. 261, 659 S.E.2d 236 (S.C. App., 2008) (citing Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000)). These damages are awarded to compensate a litigant “for his actual loss or injury,” and the damages “will compensate the party for injuries suffered of losses sustained.” Id. The ultimate goal in awarding actual damages is “to restore the injured party... to the same position he was in before the wrongful injury occurred.” Id.

⁵ “[Zerbst] and Mr. Villavicencio both assured me... I trusted what they said and I relied on what they said, and that’s why I bought that apartment complex.” 142:7 – 142:12.

⁶ Realtor commission on the purchase was \$155,000, not including another \$8,000 line item directly to Villavicencio for “Exch. Invest Planning Consult.” [Pl. Ex. 12].

The Master attempted to make Gibson whole with an award of actual damages in the total amount of \$1,153,625, the sum of the following amounts:

- \$700,000 down payment on the loan to purchase the apartments;
- \$23,625 in interest paid by Gibson on that borrowed money;
- \$355,000 as the value of the Klister Lane property used as collateral for the loan that was subsequently transferred by Gibson to resolve the foreclosure action; and
- \$75,000 in personal funds that Gibson invested in the apartments in an attempt to keep the project from failing.

[Order p. 55]

A. Recovery of the down payment was proper.

Ameris first challenges the award of actual damages and asserts that Gibson should not be compensated for the down payment towards the apartment purchase because it was procured via refinance of another piece of property titled in the name of an LLC that was not a party to this action, and that loan was an “independent transaction[] wholly unrelated” to the apartment purchase. [App. Brief p. 42-43]

Ameris’ loan to Gibson required a significant down payment amount of \$700,000. To procure the necessary funds for the down payment, Gibson used her 50 percent interest in 3205 Palm Boulevard LLC to refinance a beach house held in the LLC’s name. [Tr. 78:1-18 – 79:1; Pl. Ex. 67; Tr. 192:11-13]. This was done just as she had used a second mortgage to accomplish the shopping center purchase that was structured by the same parties as the later apartment transaction. [Pl. Ex. 32]. Zerbst knew about the true source of that money for the down payment on the apartments, even though the refinance was

originally done in anticipation of the loan being done through Reliance. Thereafter, Zerst spoke with Villavicencio and Gibson about the refinance in connection with the down payment for the apartments. [Tr. 317:17-22]. He also testified that Lanier knew Gibson was paying the down payment from borrowed money. [Tr. 349:19 – 350:2].

Ultimately, however, the important fact that Ameris fails to mention is that Gibson personally guaranteed the loan by 3205 Palm Boulevard LLC, paid back interest on a loan associated with the property, and ultimately lost the encumbered property as a result of the foreclosure. [Tr. 81:11 – 18, Pl. Ex. 2]. Additionally, Gibson had a 50% interest in 3205 Palm Boulevard LLC. [Tr. 192:11-13]. Encumbering that property, a half interest of which was an asset of Gibson, diminished Gibson's resources. It made her more vulnerable as it weakened her ability to leverage her assets to meet obligations on the apartment complex (as she had done by using \$75,000 in cash as discussed infra.). And thus to fully unwind the apartment transaction and "restore her to the same position" Gibson must be afforded an award that replaces the \$700,000 down payment and interest accrued thereon (\$23,625) regardless of the intermediary LLC involvement.

B. Gibson's infusion of personal funds into the project is appropriate for inclusion in the award of actual damages.

Ameris challenges inclusion of an award of \$75,000 because "there is nothing in the record" that constituted a guarantee to Gibson that her personal funds would not be necessary on the transaction. [App.Br. p. 43].

Gibson testified that she used \$75,000 in personal funds from her savings account as an infusion of cash into the struggling project since rental income was insufficient. [Tr. 94:16-25]. Ameris notes Gibson failed to introduce bank records or cancelled checks to

support her testimony. [App.Br. p. 43, footnote 13]. That is irrelevant because Gibson introduced tax documents that supported this testimony. [Pl. Ex. 8] Further, no law was cited that would require anything other than testimony to be sufficient evidence to justify an award. That is especially true since the Master noted in the final order, specifically about this claimed infusion of cash, that

In observing Ms. Gibson, this Court was impressed with her sincerity, her demeanor and the manner in which she testified. Her credibility was not in doubt. This is sufficient evidence to entitle Ms. Gibson to recover the \$75,000 of her personal funds that she contributed to try to keep the project alive.

[Order]

Ameris' agents represented to Gibson that the construction loan alone would suffice for the apartment renovations. [Tr. 124:15 – 125:6; Tr. 141-143:1] But for her being stuck with a floundering transaction despite her best efforts, Gibson would never have had to spend that \$75,000. The failures by Ameris and its agents that pushed Gibson into this transaction are thoroughly discussed within the breach of fiduciary portion supra. Accordingly, to "restore her to the same position" demands inclusion of this amount in full.

C. Ameris' argument as to the calculation method is conclusory and thus abandoned.

Ameris' final alleged error as to actual damages regards the manner in which the Master calculated the 20% discount for comparative fault and the \$850,000 offset, claiming that those discounts should be taken prior to any calculation of punitive damages. Absolutely no statutory or case law is cited to support this contention; not even non-binding authority. It simply is a conclusory allegation that the calculation should have been done in an alternative manner preferred by Ameris. Interestingly, this Court does not yet need

to answer the question whether comparative negligence should be used to reduce punitive damages at all.

This Court has previously been clear, however, that “short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for our review.” Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 355 S.C. 154, 584 S.E.2d 390 (Ct. App. 2003). Ameris here offers an alternative calculation method, but no authority or argument as to the necessity of its alternative, and thus this point is not preserved for review.

D. Punitive damages awarded are appropriate in all respects.

Ameris contends that the punitive damage award should be reversed for two reasons. The first is that Ameris contends the award of actual damages was improper. As established supra, however, the award and calculation thereof was without reversible error as alleged. Secondly, Ameris contends that the record does not support a finding that the bank acted willfully, wantonly or in reckless disregard of Gibson’s rights. Such a record is required to justify a punitive damage award. Taylor v. Medenica, 324 S.C. 200, 221, 479 S.E.2d 35, 46 (1996). In doing so, Ameris has the audacity to claim good faith in all its interactions with Gibson, despite only citing self-serving loss mitigation efforts it undertook for its own benefit. [App.Br. p. 46].

The trial judge is vested with considerable discretion over the amount of a punitive damage award. Austin v. Specialty Transp. Services, 358 S.C. 298, 317, 594 S.E.2d 867 (Ct. App. 2004). The Master used the factors outlined in Gamble v. Stevenson, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991) to aid in his consideration of the wrongful conduct by Ameris

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